FILED Court of Appeals Division III SUBstate of Washington 1/4/2018 1:25 PM COA NO. 33571-2-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/18/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.
LUIS GUADALUPE RODRIGUEZ-PEREZ,
WILLIAM MARTINEZ,
Petitioners.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

Yakima County Cause No. 14-1-00421-0

The Honorable Richard Bartheld, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Skylar T. Brett Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER SKYLAR T. BRETT P.O. Box 18084 Seattle, WA 98118 (206) 494-0098 skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner William Martinez, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

William Martinez seeks review of the Court of Appeals part published opinion entered on December 7, 2017. A copy of the opinion is attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1: An accused person has a constitutional right to present relevant, admissible evidence necessary to the defense. Should the Supreme Court grant review in Mr. Martinez's case when the Court of Appeals held for the first time that this right carries significantly less weight in a joint trial and that evidence critical to the defense can be excluded if it is unfairly prejudicial to a codefendant?

ISSUE 2: No state interest can be compelling enough to preclude the introduction of highly probative defense evidence. Did the trial court violate Mr. Martinez's right to present a defense by prioritizing judicial economy over his right to introduce evidence critical to his defense because it was inadmissible against his codefendant in the joint trial?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Damarius Morgan was killed in a gang-related shooting.

Down Since Birth (DSB) is a rap group in Yakima that is associated with the Fun Boys street gang.¹ RP (3/27/15) 2857. The DSB supporters generally wear red and black. RP (3/12/15) 1235-1236.

DSB had a performance in downtown Yakima. RP (3/12/15) 1231. Members of the West Side Hustlers – another local street gang – were in attendance. RP (3/16/15) 1559; RP (3/27/15) 2857.

During the concert, members of both gangs rushed outside to "rumble." RP (3/27/15) 2857. The two groups squared off in the street. RP (3/16/15) 1559. The group wearing red was on one side of the street. RP (3/11/15) 1005. Damarius Morgan was with the group on the other side. RP (3/9/15) 758-759.

Morgan punched Klick Klack (a member of DSB) and Klick Klack fell to the ground. RP (3/9/15) 713; RP (3/12/15) 1240.

A few seconds later, a member of the Fun Boys gang shot Morgan in the chest. He died as a result of his wounds. RP (3/20/15) 2244; RP (3/27/15) 2858.

2

¹ Fun Boys is a subset of the Nortenos gang. RP (3/27/15) 2857.

2. Luis Rodriguez-Perez was a high-ranking member of the Fun Boys. All of the physical evidence of the shooting pointed to him.

Luis Rodriguez-Perez performed with DSB at the concert that night. RP (3/25/15) 2574-2575. He was also a member of the Fun Boys gang. RP (3/27/15) 2858. Rodriguez-Perez has a tattoo indicating that he holds a position of authority in the Fun Boys gang. RP (3/27/15) 2859.

A surveillance video shows Rodriguez-Perez hiding a gun in the bushes immediately after the shooting. Ex. HH. Forensic evidence later showed that the bullet that killed Morgan had been shot from the gun Rodriguez-Perez hid. RP (3/25/15) 2629. Rodriguez-Perez's fingerprints were also on the magazine inside the gun. RP (3/25/15) 2670.

One eyewitness said that the shooter had been wearing a black hoodie and a hat. RP (3/12/15) 1260. At the time of the shooting, Rodriguez-Perez had on a black jacket and a red, black, and white baseball hat. RP (3/23/15) 2301-2303; Ex. 49. He hid his jacket and hat in the bushes before he was apprehended by the police. RP (3/18/15) 1907, 1914; Ex. A.

Another eyewitness looked at Rodriguez-Perez during a police showup. Rodriguez-Perez was not wearing a hat during the showup. The eyewitness said that he could have been the shooter, if he had ditched his hat before the showup. RP (3/12/15) 1343, 1416.

3. At the scene, three eyewitnesses said Williams Martinez was not the shooter; two other witnesses identified him as the shooter because he was wearing a red hat.

William Martinez was also at the concert. RP (3/27/15) 2918. He was eighteen years old and had just returned to Yakima after living out of state. RP (3/27/15) 2911-2912. He was friends with Rodriguez-Perez. RP (3/27/15) 2914.

Mr. Martinez was not a member of any street gang, including the Fun Boys. RP (3/16/15) 1562. But he happened to be wearing a red baseball hat and a red sweatshirt under his camouflage-print jacket. RP (3/27/15) 2916.

Mr. Martinez and four or five other men were detained by the police and included in on-scene showups. RP (3/10/15) 932, 940-941.

On the night of the shooting, two eyewitnesses told the police that Mr. Martinez had not been the shooter. RP (3/12/15) 1255; RP (3/20/15) 2267-2270. The police failed to collect any contact information from one of these two eyewitnesses. RP (3/20/15) 2267-2270.²

A third eyewitness did not identify Mr. Martinez at the showup but later changed his mind and told the police that he had been the shooter.

RP (3/10/15) 940-941; RP (3/11/15) 1090-1091. Cerda's son was a

4

 $^{^2}$ Accordingly, that witness could not be contacted by the defense attorneys or called to testify at trial. A police officer testified to his interaction with that witness. RP (3/20/15) 2267-2270.

member of DSB and was performing at the concert that night. RP (3/11/15) 1003.

Two more eyewitnesses picked Mr. Martinez out at the showup. RP (3/9/15) 742, 793; RP (3/12/15) 1415. Both of those witnesses said that they chose Mr. Martinez on the basis of his clothing – specifically his red hat – alone. RP (3/9/15) 742; RP (3/12/15) 1349.

One of those eyewitnesses told police that the shooter had had a mustache. RP (3/12/15) 1350. Mr. Martinez did not have a mustache on the night of the shooting. RP (3/27/15) 2950; Ex. 50. The second eyewitness who picked Mr. Martinez out of the lineup told the police that he did not see him well enough to know what race he was. RP (3/9/15) 769.

The police did not find any physical or forensic evidence connecting Mr. Martinez to the gun or the shooting.

Still, both Mr. Martinez and Rodriguez-Perez were charged with Morgan's murder. CP 4. Mr. Martinez was also charged with unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 5.

Over Mr. Martinez's objection, the court granted the state's motion to consolidate the cases. CP 46; RP (9/10/14) 37-44, 86-93. The case proceeded to a joint trial.

4. The trial court prohibited Mr. Martinez from presenting evidence that the shooting was gang-related, and that he was not associated with a street gang and had no interest in the fight.

At trial, Mr. Martinez sought to present evidence of the gang-related nature of the fight. RP (2/27/15) 2857-2862. He also wanted to elicit testimony from a Yakima Police Department gang unit member that Rodriguez-Perez was a known member of the Fun Boys gang. RP (2/27/15) 2858-2859. That same witness would have testified that Mr. Martinez was not a gang member. RP (3/16/15) 1562.

But the court prohibited Mr. Martinez from eliciting that testimony. RP (2/27/15) 2859-2862. The court noted that the evidence would not have been admissible if offered by the state, and relied on case law applying that rule. RP (2/27/15) 2859-2862.

Mr. Martinez also moved to sever his case from that of Rodriguez-Perez to permit him to elicit the gang testimony. RP (3/27/15) 2839-2840. The court refused to sever the cases. RP (3/27/15) 2849-2853.

As a result, the jury did not learn about the Fun Boys' association with DSB or the fact that the street fight was actually a rumble between two gangs. Nor did jurors learn about Rodriguez-Perez's membership in the Fun Boys. Jurors were also not told that Mr. Martinez was not a

member of either gang, and did not have an interest in the outcome of the brawl.

Mr. Martinez timely appealed. CP 388-89. On appeal, he argued, *inter alia*, that the trial court had violated his constitutional right to present a defense by prohibiting him from introducing evidence that the shooting was gang-related and that he was not a member of either of the gangs involved. Opening Brief of Martinez, pp. 15-22.

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed Mr.

Martinez's conviction. Opinion. The Court of Appeals agreed that the evidence of the gang affiliation of those involved in the "rumble" was "somewhat relevant." Opinion, p. 24. Even so, the Court held that the evidence was excludable based on the prejudice to Mr. Rodriguez-Perez. Opinion, pp. 26. The Court of Appeals applied the abuse-of-discretion standard for the admission of evidence rather than the established standard for the constitutional right to present a defense. Opinion, p. 26.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the Court of Appeals erred by holding – for the first time – that a criminal defendant's constitutional right to present a defense is less meaningful in a joint trial than it would be in an individual trial.

Morgan was killed in a gang-related brawl. The fight in the street was between the Fun Boys gang and the West Side Hustlers. RP (3/12/15)

1235-1236; RP (2/27/15) 2857-2862. Morgan punched Klick Klack – a Fun Boys member – immediately before he was shot. RP (3/9/15) 713; RP (3/12/15) 1240.

Mr. Martinez was not associated with either the Fun Boys or the West Side Hustlers. RP (3/16/15) 1562. In fact, a Yakima Police Department gang unit officer would have testified that Mr. Martinez was not in a gang at all. RP (3/16/15) 1562.

Rodriguez-Perez, on the other hand, was a member of the Fun Boys. RP (3/27/15) 2858. He performed with the gang-affiliated rap group DSB (alongside Klick Klack) at the concert and had a tattoo indicating that he held a position of authority within the gang. RP (3/25/15) 2574-2575; RP (3/27/15) 2859.

But the trial court did not permit Mr. Martinez to elicit any of that evidence. RP (2/27/15) 2859-2862. As a result, the jury did not know that the fight was gang-related. The jury also never learned that Mr. Martinez had no reason to be involved in the fight, but that Rodriguez-Perez did.

Mr. Martinez repeatedly moved to sever his case from that of Rodriguez-Perez. He did so in part so that he could present the evidence of the gang-related context of the shooting. RP (3/27/15) 2839-2840. The court denied his repeated motions to sever. RP (3/27/15) 2849-2853.

In its published opinion, the Court of Appeals found that the gang evidence was relevant to Mr. Martinez's defense, but that it was still not admissible because it would have been prejudicial to Mr. Rodriguez-Perez's defense. Opinion, pp. 24-27. Rather than applying the established standard for the constitutional right to present a defense, the Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Martinez's conviction on the basis that the trial court had not abused its discretion by excluding the evidence. Opinion, p. 27.

In effect, the Court of Appeals held – for the first time – that an accused person's constitutional right to present a defense carries less weight in a joint trial than it would in an individual trial. Opinion, pp. 24-27. But the Court of Appeals provides no legal authority for this significant limitation on that important constitutional right. Opinion, pp. 24-27.

The Supreme Court should grant review to determine whether any basis exists for the conclusion that a criminal defendant's constitutional right to present a defense must give way to the rules of evidence as applied to a codefendant's case, even when that defendant has moved repeatedly to have the cases severed. RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and (4). This case presents an extremely important issue of constitutional law.

An accused person has a constitutional right to present a defense.

U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, §§3, 22; *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371, 378, 325 P.3d 159 (2014) (citing *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973) and *Holmes v. S. Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006)). The right to present a defense includes the right to introduce relevant and admissible evidence. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720.

Once the accused has established that proffered evidence is relevant and admissible, it can only be excluded if the state proves that it is "so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial." *Id.* No state interest is compelling enough to prevent evidence that is of high probative value to the defense. *Id.*

Any weakness in evidence necessary to the defense should be addressed on cross-examination, not by exclusion. *State v. Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn. App. 306, 320, 402 P.3d 281 (2017). Additionally, the admission

³ Mr. Martinez repeatedly moved below to sever his case from Rodriguez-Perez's. RP (9/10/14) 37-44, 86-93; RP (3/27/15) 2839-2840. He also sought permission to present evidence regarding the gang-related nature of the fight and the problems inherent in cross-

racial witness identification. RP (2/27/15) 2857-2862. Insofar as he did not raise these exact constitutional arguments in the trial court, they present manifest error affecting a constitutional right, which may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

⁴ Evidence is relevant if it has any tendency to prove a material fact. ER 401. The threshold to admit relevant evidence is low; even minimally relevant evidence is admissible. *Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 669, 230 P.3d 583 (2010).

of evidence critical to the defense should not be decided based on the standards regarding the admission of evidence by the state against the defense; the proper standard is that under *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 323.

Violation of the right to present a defense requires reversal unless the state can establish harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 382.

The right to present a defense includes the right to present evidence of the circumstances surrounding an alleged crime when those circumstances point to the accused's innocence. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 721. In *Jones*, this Court held that the accused had a constitutional right to present evidence that an alleged rape had actually occurred during an all-night, drug-induced sex party. *Id.* Indeed, the evidence was so probative that no state interest could have been compelling enough to preclude its introduction. *Id.*

Similarly, here, the evidence of the context in which the shooting took place was critical to Mr. Martinez's defense. Without it, the jury would have reasonably assumed that Mr. Martinez was part of the fight and had as much interest in its outcome as everyone else there.

But the court did not permit Mr. Martinez to elicit evidence of the gang-related nature of the shooting, the gang involvement of the other participants, and the fact that he was not in a gang. RP (2/27/15) 2859-

2862. Accordingly, he was completely unable to argue in his defense that he had no reason to participate in the fight or to want to shoot Morgan.

Mr. Martinez was also not permitted to inform the jury that Rodriguez-Perez *did* have reason to shoot Mr. Morgan (who had just punched his gang-mate, Klick Klack, to the ground). *Cf. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 377 ("The trial court in this case erred when it excluded Franklin's alternate suspect evidence.") Similarly, he was unable to demonstrate Cerda's potential bias in favor of members of the gang.⁵

No state interest could have been compelling enough to preclude the admission of the highly probative evidence, which was necessary for Mr. Martinez's defense. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. Accordingly, the exclusion of the evidence violated Mr. Martinez's right to present a defense under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, §§ 3, 22.6

⁵ In addition to implicating his right to present a defense, this restriction likely infringed his constitutional right to confront witnesses to show bias. *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 319, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974) (right of confrontation violated by state statute's exclusion of evidence needed to show bias of important witness).

⁶ The state cannot demonstrate that the violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 382. The gang evidence was critical to Mr. Martinez's defense. It would have shown that he had no reason to participate in the fight or to shoot Morgan. It also would have shown that numerous other people had an interest in the outcome and had reason to avenge Klick Klack. These others included Rodriguez-Perez, who ran to the car prior to the shooting, who was seen disposing of the gun after the shooting, who wore a hat with red on it (which he dumped after the shooting), and whose fingerprints were on the gun and on the gun's magazine. RP (3/25/15) 2670; RP (3/27/15) 2925-2926; Ex. HH. Furthermore, most of the gang members were also wearing red and could have easily been mistaken for Mr. Martinez. The state cannot prove that "any reasonable jury would have reached the same result without the error." *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 724. Mr. Martinez's convictions must be reversed. *Id.*

The court prevented Mr. Martinez from eliciting the gang-related evidence because it would have prejudiced his codefendant, Rodriguez-Perez. RP (2/27/15) 2859-2862. But Mr. Martinez had repeatedly sought to sever his case from that of Mr. Rodriguez-Perez. RP (9/10/14) 37-44, 86-93; RP (3/27/15) 2839-2840. In an individual trial, the concerns regarding the effect of the gang evidence of Mr. Rodriguez-Perez's case would not have existed. But the state's interest in a joint trial did not outweigh Mr. Martinez's right to present the evidence in his own defense. *See State v. Cayetano-Jaimes*, 190 Wn. App. 286, 298, 359 P.3d 919 (2015).

As outlined above, no state interest can be compelling enough to preclude the admission of highly probative evidence necessary to the defense. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. Even if the gang evidence does not qualify as *highly* probative, the state's interest in judicial economy through a joint trial was insufficient to overcome Mr. Martinez's constitutional right to present necessary evidence in his defense. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 721; *See also United States v. Seifert*, 648 F.2d 557, 564 (9th Cir. 1980).

⁷ The Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not consider judicial economy as its justification for excluding the gang evidence. Opinion, pp. 23-24. But the Court of Appeals does not point to any other state interest in excluding the evidence. *See* Opinion *generally*. Rather, the Court's holding on the issue relies exclusively on the prejudicial nature of the gang evidence to Mr. Rodriguez-Perez's defense. Opinion, pp. 24-27. But the effect of the evidence on a codefendant is not relevant under the *Jones* standard. Rather, if the evidence was inadmissible against Mr. Rodriguez-Perez, the remedy was to sever the trials, not to exclude evidence critical to Mr. Martinez's defense.

The state cannot point to any other interest served by the exclusion of the gang-related context of the shooting. But the burden is on the state to show that the evidence is "so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial." *Cayetano-Jaimes*, 190 Wn. App. at 298. The state cannot do so in this case.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard by holding only that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding the evidence of gang affiliation. Opinion, p. 27. But the constitutional standard regarding the right to present a defense permits exclusion only if the evidence is "so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial." *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720; *See also Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn. App. at 320 (the trial court errs by applying the standard for the admission of evidence by the state to issues regarding the admission of evidence critical to the defense).

This Court should grant review to determine whether the Court of Appeals erred in Mr. Martinez's case by significantly limiting the constitutional right to present a defense in a joint trial. This significant question of constitutional law is of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and (4). This Court should grant review.

VI. CONCLUSION

The issue here is significant under the State Constitution.

Furthermore, because it could impact a large number of criminal cases, it is of substantial public interest. The Supreme Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).