FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/9/2018 4:39 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95409-7

COA 33571-2-III, 33624-7-III

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

LUIS GUADALUPE RODRIGUEZ-PEREZ, WILLIAM ESCOBAR MARTINEZ, Petitioners.

# ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

#

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

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the prosecutor did not improperly vouch for Martinez because his statements were merely argument based on reasonable inferences from the evidence presented at trial.

Rodriguez-Perez argued on appeal, and for the first time, that the prosecutor vouched for a witness's credibility during closing argument.

However, the record shows otherwise. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the prosecutor did not improperly vouch for Martinez.

Courts review allegations of prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument in light of the entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence discussed during the argument, and the court's instructions.

State v. Sakellis, 164 Wn. App. 170, 185, 269 P.3d 1029 (2011). The State has wide latitude in drawing and expressing reasonable inferences from the evidence, including inferences about credibility. State v. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 496, 290 P.3d 996 (2012). But a prosecutor commits misconduct by personally vouching for a witness's credibility. State v.

Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 175, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). The defendant has the burden of establishing that (1) the State acted improperly, and (2) the State's improper act prejudiced the defendant. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Misconduct is prejudicial if there is a substantial likelihood it affected the verdict. Id. at 760-1.

Here, Rodriguez-Perez objected only on the basis that the prosecutor was arguing inconsistent theories of prosecution. RP (3/31/15) 3305. He did not lodge any objection based on the rule against vouching. As such, he has waived any claim of improper vouching on appeal. In order to preserve errors for appeal, a timely and specific objection must be placed on the record so that the trial judge can rule on it, and if necessary,

cure any errors. An appellate court may decline to consider a claim of trial error if the grounds for the claim are different from the grounds on which the objection was made at trial. *See, e.g., State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

Further, a defendant who fails to object to the State's improper act at trial waives any error, unless the act was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 443, 258 P.3d 43 (2011).

To begin with, there was no misconduct on the part of the prosecutor in this case. Improper vouching occurs if the prosecutor (1) places the prestige of the government behind the witness, or (2) indicates that evidence not presented at trial supports the witness's testimony. *State v. Robinson*, 189 Wn. App. 877, 892-93, 359 P.3d 874 (2015). However, there is a difference between the prosecutor's personal opinion, as an independent fact, and an opinion based upon or deduced from the evidence. *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53, 134 P.3d 221 (2006). Misconduct occurs only when it is clear and unmistakable that the prosecutor is not arguing an inference from the evidence, but is expressing a personal opinion. *Id.* at 54.

Rodriguez-Perez argued on appeal that the prosecutor was vouching because of these three sentences in closing argument:

"[Martinez] knew Luis had the pistol. He knew Luis intended to fire.

Luis fired the pistol at Morgan, that fool." Appellant's Brief at 13. This argument was within the prosecutor's wide latitude in drawing and expressing reasonable inferences from the evidence, including inferences about credibility. The prosecutor did not make a personal comment about Martinez's credibility or indicate that other information not presented to the jury supported his credibility. He did not say or imply that he personally believed Martinez or that Martinez must be telling the truth.

As such, the prosecutor did not improperly vouch for Martinez.

In fact, the prosecutor prefaced his statements by telling the jury that these were reasonable conclusions that they should draw. RP (3/31/15) 3304. And just a few paragraphs before the alleged improper argument, the prosecutor told the jury to reject a statement by Martinez and reminded the jury that they were the sole judges of witness credibility:

He tells you that he didn't know that Luis intended to fire, but you are the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses. You should reject that statement by Martinez.

RP (3/31/15) 3304. In fact, when going through Martinez's testimony during closing, the prosecutor reiterated four other times that the jurors were the sole judges of credibility. RP (3/31/15) 3297, 3299, 3301, 3303.

And the prosecutor pointed out numerous statements made by Martinez that the jury should reject. RP (3/31/15) 3297, 3299, 3301, 3303.

And after the defense objected on the basis of "inconsistent theories," the court made this cautionary statement to the jury:

Again, the jury is reminded that the lawyer's remarks, statements and argument are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. They are not evidence, however, and you should disregard any remark, statement or argument that is not supported by the evidence in this case.

RP (3/31/15) 3305. As such, assuming, *arguendo*, there was any misconduct, any prejudice was cured by the court's warning to the jury.

As to the prosecutor's theory of the case, the prosecutor stated in closing that Martinez "either did it as a principal or an accomplice, but he was in it and he knew it." RP (3/31/15) 3309. He pointed out that, "There is evidence that [Martinez] was the shooter. The witnesses testified that he was the shooter." RP (3/31/15) 3313. In the State's rebuttal, the prosecutor again argued that the jury should accept as credible the testimony of witnesses who identified Martinez as the shooter. RP (3/31/15) 3382. The prosecutor argued:

There was testimony given by Mr. Martinez, and Mr. Martinez said I'm not the shooter. Mr. Rodriguez-Perez is the shooter. I'm not going to just ignore that testimony because

you will decide this case. I don't know what you're thinking. When I make these arguments to you about Mr. Martinez, I'm not telling you just disregard what all the witnesses said that I called to the witness stand. What I'm saying is this: Even if you accept what Mr. Martinez says that he is not the shooter and the shooter is Mr. Rodriguez-Perez, my position to you is that it doesn't make any difference. Mr. Martinez is still guilty as an accomplice.

. . .

So whether you accept the testimony of the identification witnesses...or whether you find some credibility in what Mr. Martinez says, it doesn't make any difference. They did it together as a team.

RP (3/31/15) 3382-3. It was clear from the prosecutor's closing and rebuttal that he was not vouching for any one version of events. He was leaving it to the jury to decide what to believe. He made that point very clear many times. He was just going through the evidence. In addition, the prosecutor mostly criticized Martinez's testimony in closing.

Rodriguez-Perez claims that the prosecutor assured Martinez was the shooter in his opening statement. However, the purpose of an opening statement is to outline the evidence the party intends to introduce at trial. *State v. Kroll*, 87 Wn.2d 829, 834, 558 P.2d 173 (1976). The opening statement is based upon the anticipated evidence and the reasonable inferences which can be drawn therefrom. *State v. Aiken*, 72 Wn.2d 306, 351, 434 P.2d 10 (1967). The State is not required to prove anything

mentioned in the opening statement. A reality of criminal trial practice is that testimony sometimes changes before and during the trial. Here, the prosecutor made, in good faith, statements as to what he anticipated the evidence to be at that time. Furthermore, changing one's theory does not amount to vouching for the credibility of a witness.

In sum, the defense did not meet its burden of showing misconduct so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured it.

The prosecutor's statements were not a personal comment, but permissible argument based on the evidence. In addition, the prosecutor cautioned the jury numerous times as to their role in assessing credibility. And the court made a cautionary statement as well. As such, this Court of Appeals was correct in holding that there was no improper vouching in this case.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court's exclusion of testimony about Rodriguez-Perez's gang affiliation was not an abuse of discretion.

Martinez argued at trial that the court should admit evidence that his codefendant, Rodriguez-Perez, was a gang member. However, the trial court correctly found that the testimony was not relevant and that the prejudicial effect outweighed any probative value. RP (3/27/15) 2862.

Evidence of gang affiliation is a special subset of prior bad act evidence under 404(b). *See State v. Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. 66, 81-82, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009). It can be admitted in a criminal trial if there is a

11

connection between the crime and gang membership that makes the gang evidence relevant. *State v. Scott*, 151 Wn. App. 520, 526-27, 213 P.3d 71 (2009), *review denied*, 168 Wn.2d 1004 (2010).

# ER 404(b) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

A trial court's ER 404(b) ruling is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 429-30, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985); *State v. Campbell*, 78 Wn. App. 813, 821, 901 P.2d 1050 (1995). When a trial court's exercise of its discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons, an abuse of discretion exists. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). In this case, there was no abuse of discretion.

a. The trial court correctly held that evidence of Rodriguez-Perez's gang affiliation was irrelevant based on the offer of proof that was made.

Defendants have a right to present only relevant evidence, with no constitutional right to present *irrelevant* evidence. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 786 n.6, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), *overruled in part on other* 

grounds by State v. W.R., 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014). Evidence is relevant when it is both material—the fact to be proved "is of consequence in the context of the other facts and the applicable substantive law"—and probative—the evidence has a "tendency to prove or disprove a fact." State v. Sargent, 40 Wn. App. 340, 348 n.3, 698 P.2d 598 (1985) (quoting 5 Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Evidence Law and Practice § 82, at 168 (2d ed. 1982)).

During pre-trial hearings, Rodriguez-Perez made a motion in limine regarding gang-related evidence. CP 27, 29. The State had no objection. RP (2/24/15) 544. Rodriguez-Perez argued that there was no evidence that the shooting was gang-related and that any testimony that any rap performer or group was gang-affiliated should be excluded based on relevance. CP 27. Martinez reserved on the issue, stating that he might join in the motion made by Rodriguez-Perez, but wanted to see how the evidence unfolded. RP (2/24/15) 553, 565.

Trial began on March 2, 2015 with jury selection. In the middle of trial, on March 16, Martinez's attorney made an offer of proof regarding the evidence that he wanted to admit. He focused heavily on a police report that summarized what a witness, Mr. Martin Gonzalez, told the police:

...Gonzalez stated that it began inside during the concert when several subjects began to exchange words for an unknown reason but thought it had something to do with gangs or rap. Gonzalez explained that there were several rap groups playing tonight, that one of the rap groups named DSB, Down Since Birth, is affiliated the FB's, Fun Boys, a Norteño gang in Yakima. Gonzalez stated two large groups that consisted of West Side Hustlers and FB's then went outside to rumble and began to square off. He talks about it from there. Then he goes on discussing it further and says in the third paragraph that a subject that was with the FB's brandished a pistol and shot about three times. Then he describes what that person looked like, a Hispanic male about 5' 7", medium build, wearing a zip-up jacket or hoody with a T-shirt that had white or light brown on it and a red and black snapback cap. He indicated he thought he could recognize that person if he saw him again.

RP (3/16/15) 1559. Martinez's attorney argued that the evidence should

#### be admitted:

So I think it's potentially a significant issue of identification that Gonzalez is telling him that the person that he saw brandish the pistol was affiliated with the FB's and that Sergeant Gonzalez<sup>2</sup> says he knew Luis Rodriguez-Perez to be a Fun Boys gang member and had dealt with him on two occasions when he was in the company of other FB gang members.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is clear from the context that Martinez's attorney meant to say Sergeant Cortez, whose testimony they were discussing.

RP (3/16/15) 1560.

Essentially, Martinez wanted to elicit information that Rodriguez-Perez was a member of the Fun Boys gang because Mr. Gonzalez said the person brandishing the pistol was "affiliated with" the Fun Boys.

Rodriguez-Perez objected, noting that the court heard Mr. Gonzalez's testimony and that there was no information that this was a gang-related shooting. RP (3/16/15) 1566. The trial judge reserved ruling on the issue and stated, "there is no ruling at this point on gang evidence." RP (3/16/15) 1573. Martinez indicated he was comfortable with the court reserving on the issue. RP (3/16/15) 1575. The court also told Martinez's attorney that he could recall Sgt. Cortez. RP (3/16/15) 1580.

Later during the trial, after the State had rested, the court asked for an offer of proof regarding the gang-related evidence. RP (3/27/15) 2855. Martinez's attorney reiterated that according to Sgt. Cortez's report, Mr. Gonzalez, the college student working security at the Seasons, stated "it began inside during the concert when several subjects began to exchange words *for an unknown reason but thought it had something to do with gangs or rap.*" RP (3/27/15) 2857 (emphasis added). Mr. Gonzalez stated that two large groups went outside to rumble and square off. RP (3/27/15) 2857. A subject with West Side Hustlers (WSH) threw a punch at a Fun Boys (FB) rapper. RP (3/27/15) 2858. Someone with the Fun Boys then

started shooting. RP (3/27/15) 2858. Gonzalez did not know if he was shooting anyone in particular or just into the crowd. RP (3/27/15) 2858. Martinez's attorney claimed that Rodriguez had a gang-related tattoo and was a member of the Fun Boys, while Martinez was not part of a gang. RP (3/27/15) 2858-9.

The trial court ruled that there must be a connection between the crime and gang affiliation before the evidence becomes relevant. RP (3/27/15) 2862. The court stated:

In this particular circumstance, this court from the offer of proof, Mr. Krom, simply can't conclude that there's any evidence that the acts of the defendants in this case were in any fashion made to advance gang values or the purposes of the gang itself. The court is not convinced that there is a nexus. The evidence so far indicates that the shooting arose out of a conflict between two groups, which started out as yelling and rose to the level of a fistfight. There is simply not enough evidence in this case to establish that the shooting was to advance a particular gang purpose or value.

#### Id. The court later stated,

The relevance in this case, when I look at it in total, clearly it is Mr. Martinez's attempt to exculpate himself from involvement in this case by saying he did it. He did it because he was a gang member, and this gang wanted to assault this other gang. That's really what it boils down to, *relevance*. Under those circumstances, the

court finds that, number one, there's not a reasonable nexus between the crime and the advancement of gang values and activities.

Id. at 2862 (emphasis added).

Based on the limited offer of proof made by Martinez, it is clear why the trial court excluded the evidence. It was not relevant. Martinez wanted to elicit testimony that Rodriguez-Perez was a gang member to suggest that he was the shooter. Although Mr. Gonzalez said that the shooter was affiliated with the Fun Boys, at two show ups he said that neither defendant was the shooter. Mr. Gonzalez had no idea why these groups were fighting. According to the offer of proof, Mr. Gonzaelez stated that words were exchanged for "unknown reasons" and that he did not know if the shooter was shooting anyone in particular or just shooting into the crowd. The offer of proof provided by Martinez was simply insufficient to admit evidence of gang affiliations. While the attorney characterized the fighting as "gang-related," there was no evidence to that effect.

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